
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COLE COUNTY 

STATE OF MISSOURI 

 

THOMAS HOOTSELLE, et al. ) 

      ) 

   Plaintiffs,  ) 

      ) 

    v.  ) Case No. 12AC-CC00518 

  ) 

GEORGE LOMBARDI, et al.,  ) 

      ) 

   Defendants. ) 

 

ANSWER TO FIRST AMENDED PETITION 

 

 Defendants George Lombardi, in his official capacity as the Director of 

the Department of Corrections, and Missouri Department of Corrections 

(“MDOC”), through counsel, answer Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition for 

Damages and Other Relief as follows: 

1. Defendants admit that this action is styled as a class action, aver 

that the remainder of paragraph 1 contains legal conclusions to which no 

response is required, and deny all remaining allegations contained in 

paragraph 1. 

2. Defendants aver that paragraph 2 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required and deny all remaining allegations contained 

in paragraph 2. 

3. Defendants aver that paragraph 3 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required and deny all remaining allegations contained 

in paragraph 3. 
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4. Defendants aver that paragraph 4 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent that a response is required, 

Defendants admit that this court has subject matter jurisdiction to hear this 

case and deny all remaining allegations contained in paragraph 4. 

5. Defendants admit that the central office for MDOC is located in 

Cole County. Defendants further aver that paragraph 5 contains legal 

conclusions to which no response is required. To the extent that a response is 

required, Defendants admit venue is proper in Cole County, and deny all 

remaining allegations contained in paragraph 5. 

6. Defendants admit that Plaintiff Hootselle is employed as a 

corrections officer I at Farmington Correctional Center (“FCC”). Defendants 

deny that Plaintiff Hootselle has performed his job duties and worked hours 

in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek without receiving regular and 

overtime compensation. Defendants are without sufficient knowledge or 

information to admit or deny the remaining allegations in Plaintiff’s 

paragraph 6 and, therefore, deny the same. 

7. Defendants admit that Plaintiff Dicus is employed as a 

corrections officer II at Potosi Correctional Center (“PCC”). Defendants deny 

that Plaintiff Dicus has performed his job duties and worked hours in excess 

of forty (40) hours per workweek without receiving regular and overtime 

compensation. Defendants are without sufficient knowledge or information to 
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admit or deny the remaining allegations in Plaintiff’s paragraph 7 and, 

therefore, deny the same. 

8. Defendants admit that Plaintiff Huff is employed as a corrections 

officer II at FCC. Defendants deny that Plaintiff Huff has performed his job 

duties and worked hours in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek without 

receiving regular and overtime compensation. Defendants are without 

sufficient knowledge or information to admit or deny the remaining 

allegations in Plaintiff’s paragraph 8 and, therefore, deny the same. 

9. Defendants admit that Plaintiff Meister is employed as a 

corrections officer II at FCC. Defendants deny that Plaintiff Meister has 

performed his job duties and worked hours in excess of forty (40) hours per 

workweek without receiving regular and overtime compensation. Defendants 

are without sufficient knowledge or information to admit or deny the 

remaining allegations in Plaintiff’s paragraph 9 and, therefore, deny the 

same. 

10. Defendants admit that Plaintiff Since is employed as a 

corrections officer I at FCC. Defendants deny that Plaintiff Since has 

performed her job duties and worked hours in excess of forty (40) hours per 

workweek without receiving regular and overtime compensation. Defendants 

are without sufficient knowledge or information to admit or deny the 
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remaining allegations in Plaintiff’s paragraph 10 and, therefore, deny the 

same. 

11. Defendants admit that Plaintiff Stevenson is employed as a 

corrections officer I at PCC. Defendants deny that Plaintiff Stevenson has 

performed her job duties and worked hours in excess of forty (40) hours per 

workweek without receiving regular and overtime compensation. Defendants 

are without sufficient knowledge or information to admit or deny the 

remaining allegations in Plaintiff’s paragraph 11 and, therefore, deny the 

same. 

12. Defendants admit that Plaintiff A. Strange is employed as a 

corrections officer I at FCC. Defendants deny that Plaintiff A. Strange has 

performed her job duties and worked hours in excess of forty (40) hours per 

workweek without receiving regular and overtime compensation. Defendants 

are without sufficient knowledge or information to admit or deny the 

remaining allegations in Plaintiff’s paragraph 12 and, therefore, deny the 

same. 

13. Defendants admit that Plaintiff M. Strange is employed as a 

corrections officer I at Bonne Terre Correctional Center (“BTCC”). 

Defendants deny that Plaintiff M. Strange has performed his job duties and 

worked hours in excess of forty (40) hours per workweek without receiving 

regular and overtime compensation. Defendants are without sufficient 

E
lectronically F

iled - C
ole C

ircuit - A
ugust 17, 2015 - 01:54 P

M



5 

knowledge or information to admit or deny the remaining allegations in 

Plaintiff’s paragraph 13 and, therefore, deny the same. 

14. Admitted. 

15. Admitted.  

16. Defendants admit that MDOC employs more than 5000 persons 

as corrections officers I and II and admit that a standard full time workweek 

is comprised of forty hours over seven days, usually consisting of five eight-

hour shifts. Defendants deny any remaining allegations contained in 

paragraph 16. 

17. Denied. 

18. Defendants admit that during a regular eight-hour shift, 

Plaintiffs are required to be at their assigned posts at the start of their shifts. 

Defendants further admit that disciplinary action may be imposed for 

tardiness if Plaintiffs fail to report to their assigned post at the start of their 

shifts. Defendants deny all remaining allegations contained in paragraph 18. 

19. For answer to the subparts of paragraph 19, Defendants state as 

follows: 

a. Admit that anyone entering a secure facility, including 

employees, must pass through a security checkpoint and deny all 

remaining allegations contained in subpart a). 
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b. Admit that certain corrections officers at certain facilities are 

required to obtain communication equipment and keys and deny 

all remaining allegations contained in subpart b) 

c. Admit that before entering a secure perimeter of a facility, 

anyone entering must pass through security and deny all 

remaining allegations contained in subpart c) 

d. Admit that before entering a secure area, anyone entering must 

pass through security and deny all remaining allegations 

contained in subpart d). 

20. Defendants admit that corrections officers are required to report 

to their assigned post at the start of their shift and deny all remaining 

allegations contained in paragraph 20. 

21. Defendants aver that paragraph 21 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required; admit that corrections officers are required to 

report to their assigned post at the start of their shift and deny all remaining 

allegations contained in paragraph 21. 

22. Defendants admit that corrections officers are supposed to be 

relieved at their posts at the end of their shift and that they must be relieved 

at their assigned posts before they are permitted to leave the post and deny 

all remaining allegations contained in paragraph 22. 
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23. For answer to the subparts of paragraph 23, Defendants state as 

follows: 

a. Admit that Plaintiffs are required to complete any required 

reports but deny that time spent completing such reports is 

uncompensated and deny all remaining allegations contained in 

subpart a) 

b. Admit anyone leaving a secure area of a secure facility must exit 

through designated exit points and deny all remaining 

allegations contained in subpart b) 

c. Deny the allegations contained in subpart c) and 

d. Admit that some corrections officers are required to return keys 

and/or communication equipment at the end of a shift and deny 

all remaining allegations contained in subpart d). 

24. Denied. 

25. Defendants aver that paragraph 25 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required and, to the extent a response is required, deny 

all allegations contained in paragraph 25. 

26. Defendants aver that paragraph 26 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required, and, to the extent a response is required, deny 

that a class action as defined in paragraph 26 is appropriate. 
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27. Defendants aver that paragraph 27 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required, and, to the extent a response is required, deny 

that a class action as defined in paragraph 27 is appropriate. Defendants 

further aver that Eastern Reception, Diagnostic & Correctional Center and 

BTCC are the same facility. Defendants admit that MDOC employs over 5000 

persons as corrections officers I and II. Defendants deny all remaining 

allegations contained in paragraph 27. 

28. Defendants aver that paragraph 28 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required, and, to the extent a response is required, deny 

that the individual Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the proposed class, deny 

that the individual Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the proposed 

class, and deny knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to 

adequacy of representation provided by counsel for Plaintiffs.  

29. Defendants aver that paragraph 29 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is required, 

Defendants respond to the subparts of paragraph 29 as follows: 

i. Defendants aver that subpart i contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny that any failure to pay required wages 

and overtime has occurred and deny any remaining allegations 

contained in subpart i; 
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ii. Defendants aver that subpart ii contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny that any failure to pay required wages 

and overtime has occurred and deny any remaining allegations 

contained in subpart ii; 

iii. Defendants aver that subpart iii contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny that any failure fully and accurately 

record the hours worked each day and each workweek has 

occurred and deny any remaining allegations contained in 

subpart iii; 

iv. Defendants aver that subpart iv contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny that any failure to pay required wages 

and overtime has occurred and deny any remaining allegations 

contained in subpart iv; 

v. Defendants aver that subpart v contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny that any failure to pay required wages 

and overtime has occurred and deny any remaining allegations 

contained in subpart v; 
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vi. Defendants aver that subpart vi contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny that any failure to pay required wages 

and overtime has occurred and deny any remaining allegations 

contained in subpart vi; 

vii. Defendants aver that subpart vii contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny that any failure to pay required wages 

and overtime has occurred and deny any remaining allegations 

contained in subpart vii; 

viii. Defendants aver that subpart viii contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny any liability for any damages, and 

deny any remaining allegations contained in subpart vii; 

ix. Defendants aver that subpart ix contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny any liability for any attorneys’ fees or 

costs, and deny any remaining allegations contained in subpart 

ix; 

x. Defendants aver that subpart x contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 
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required, Defendants deny any liability pursuant to quantum 

meruit and/or contract, and deny any remaining allegations 

contained in subpart x; 

xi. Defendants aver that subpart xi contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is 

required, Defendants deny any unjust enrichment, and deny any 

remaining allegations contained in subpart xi. 

30. Defendants aver that paragraph 30 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is required, 

Defendants deny that a class action as defined in the petition is appropriate 

or proper and deny any remaining allegations contained in paragraph 30. 

31. Defendants aver that paragraph 31 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is required, 

Defendants deny that a class action as defined in the petition is appropriate 

or proper and deny any remaining allegations contained in paragraph 31. 

32. Defendants aver that paragraph 32 contains legal conclusions to 

which no response is required. To the extent a response is required, 

Defendants deny that a class action as defined in the petition is appropriate 

or proper and deny any remaining allegations contained in paragraph 32. 
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COUNT I 

ALLEGATIONS OF VIOLATIONS OF  

MISSOURI’S WAGE AND HOUR LAWS 

 

33. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015. To the extent a response is required, Defendants 

incorporate, by reference, their responses to paragraphs 1-32 of Plaintiffs’ 

First Amended Petition as fully set forth herein.  

34.  No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in paragraph 34. 

35.  No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants state 

that the laws cited speak for themselves and deny any remaining allegations 

in paragraph 35. 

36. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in paragraph 36. 

37. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in paragraph 37. 

38. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants state 
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that the laws cited speak for themselves and deny any remaining allegations 

in paragraph 38. 

39. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants state 

that the laws cited speak for themselves and deny any remaining allegations 

in paragraph 39. 

40. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015. To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny the 

allegations in paragraph 40. 

41. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015. To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny the 

allegations in paragraph 41. 

42. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015. To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny the 

allegations in paragraph 42. 

43. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015. To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny the 

allegations in paragraph 43. 

44. No response is required.  Count I was dismissed by the Court on 

February 11, 2015. To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny the 

allegations in paragraph 44. 
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WHEREFORE, the Court has dismissed Count I entering judgment in 

favor of Defendants.   

COUNT II 

ALLEGATIONS OF VIOLATION OF THE  

FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT OF 1938 

 

45. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants 

incorporate, by reference, their responses to paragraphs 1-44 of Plaintiffs’ 

First Amended Petition as if fully set forth herein. 

46. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in Paragraph 46.   

47. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in Paragraph 47.   

48. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants state 

that the cited laws speak for themselves and deny any remaining allegations 

in Paragraph 48.   

49. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in Paragraph 49.   
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50. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in Paragraph 50.   

51. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in Paragraph 51.   

52. No response is required.  Count II was dismissed by the Court on 

December 19, 2014.  To the extent a response is required, Defendants deny 

the allegations in Paragraph 52.   

WHEREFORE, the Court has dismissed Count II entering judgment in 

favor of Defendants.   

COUNT III 

BREACH OF CONTRACT 

 

53. Defendants incorporate, by reference, their responses to 

paragraphs 1-52 of Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition as if fully set forth 

herein. 

54. Denied. 

55. Defendants admit that DOC and Plaintiffs and other CO Is and 

CO IIs have or had an at-will-employment relationship whereby DOC pays 

Plaintiffs and other CO Is and CO IIs for work.  Defendants deny that the at- 

will-employment relationship between DOC and Plaintiffs and other CO Is 

and CO IIs constitutes an employment contract upon which any Plaintiffs or 
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class member can sue. Defendants further state as follows with regard to 

each subpart: 

a. Defendants state that the handbook cited speaks for itself and deny 

any remaining allegations in subpart a). 

b. Defendants state that the Manual cited speaks for itself and deny 

any remaining allegations in subpart b). 

c. Defendants state that the Manual cited speaks for itself and deny 

any remaining allegations in subpart c). 

d. Defendants state that the law cited speaks for itself and deny any 

remaining allegations in subpart d). 

e. Defendants state that the regulation cited speaks for itself and deny 

any remaining allegations in subpart e). 

56. Denied. 

57. Denied. 

58. Denied. 

59. Denied. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully ask this Court to enter 

judgment in their favor and against Plaintiffs, dismissing the case with 

prejudice, awarding them costs, and for such further relief as is just. 

COUNT IV 

UNJUST ENRICHMENT 

 

60. Defendants incorporate, by reference, their responses to 
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paragraphs 1-59 of Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition as if fully set forth 

herein. 

61. Denied. 

62. Denied. 

63. Denied. 

64. Denied. 

65. Denied. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully ask this Court to enter 

judgment in their favor and against Plaintiffs, dismissing the case with 

prejudice, awarding them costs, and for such further relief as is just. 

COUNT V 

QUANTUM MERUIT 

 

66. Defendants incorporate, by reference, their responses to 

paragraphs 1-65 of Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition as if fully set forth 

herein. 

67. Denied. 

68. Denied. 

69. Denied. 

70. Denied. 

71. Defendants admit that Plaintiffs are requesting their rate of pay 

plus time and a half for overtime, but deny that Plaintiffs are entitled to any 

compensation whatsoever. 
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72. Denied. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully ask this Court to enter 

judgment in their favor and against Plaintiffs, dismissing the case with 

prejudice, awarding them costs, and for such further relief as is just. 

 

ADDITIONAL RESPONSES 

Further answering and without prejudice to its previous denials, 

Defendants further state: 

1. Defendants deny each and every allegation, not explicitly 

admitted herein, contained in Plaintiffs’ Petition. 

2. Defendants deny that Plaintiffs are entitled to any relief 

whatsoever, including the relief demanded in their Petition. 

3. Defendants demand a jury trial on all issues triable to a jury. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

Further answering, pursuant to Rule 55.08, Defendants affirmatively 

state the following: 

First Defense 

 Count I of Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition was properly dismissed by 

the Court on February 11, 2015 for the reasons set forth in Defendants’ 

Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and related briefing. See 2/11/2015 

Order.  Dismissal of this claim is law of the case and res judicata. 
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Second Defense 

 Count II of Plaintiffs’ First Amended Petition was properly dismissed 

by the Court on December 19, 2014 for the reasons set forth in Defendants’ 

Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and related briefing. See 12/19/2014 

Order.  Dismissal of this claim is law of the case and res judicata. 

Third Defense 

 Defendant MDOC, as a state entity, and George Lombardi, in his 

official capacity as a state actor, are protected under the doctrine of sovereign 

immunity found in Section 537.600, RSMo. These entities cannot be sued for 

unjust enrichment or quantum meruit and other quasi contract claims.   

Fourth Defense 

 The claimed time worked beyond Plaintiffs’ scheduled time was de 

minimus, such that it is properly disregarded for purposes of compensating 

Plaintiffs.  Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680 (1946). 

Fifth Defense 

 The claimed time worked beyond Plaintiffs’ scheduled time constituted 

preliminary and postliminary work that is not compensable under the Fair 

Labor Standards Act. 

Sixth Defense 

 The claimed time worked beyond Plaintiffs’ scheduled time was 

properly rounded, pursuant to 29 C.F.R. 785.48(b). 
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Seventh Defense 

 Defendants were unaware that Plaintiffs performed work off the clock, 

Plaintiffs failed to inform employer of such work, and Plaintiffs are, by their 

conduct, stopped from pursuing their claim for unpaid wages against the 

employer. 

Eighth Defense 

 Any and all actions taken by Defendants with respect to Plaintiffs, 

were taken in good faith in that even if it could be found that Defendants 

violated statutory rights, which Defendants adamantly deny, said actions 

were a result of reasonable mistake and/or were not willful. The alleged 

conduct does not meet the statutory standard for willful or reckless disregard 

for whether its conduct violated the wage and hour laws, thus preventing 

collection of liquidated damages. Defendants’ actions with respect to 

Plaintiffs were taken in good faith based, in part, on the belief that the 

activities listed by Plaintiffs as compensable time are actually de minimus 

and/or are preliminary and postliminary work that is not compensable time.   

Ninth Defense 

Any portion of Plaintiffs’ claim involving court costs should be 

dismissed in that there is no waiver of sovereign immunity with respect to 

court costs.  See Richardson v. State Highway & Transportation Commission, 

863 S.W.2d 876 (Mo. banc 1993).  Likewise any portion of the Plaintiffs’ 
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claims involving prejudgment interest is limited in that there is no waiver of 

prejudgment interest by the State of Missouri above the statutory limit on 

liability.  Schumann v. Mo. Highway and Trans. Comm., 912 S.W.2d 548 

(Mo. App. 1995). 

Tenth Defense 

Plaintiffs are not entitled to punitive damages against Defendants.   

Punitive damages are not recoverable against the State, and the Defendants 

are arms of the State.   See § 537.610.3, RSMo; Gregg v. City of Kansas City, 

272 S.W.3d 353, 358 (Mo.App.W.D. 2008); see also Fantasma v. Kansas City 

Missouri Board of Police Commissioners, 913 S.W.2d 388, 391 (Mo.App.W.D. 

1996); Spotts v. Kansas City, 728 S.W.2d 242, 246-47 (Mo.App.W.D. 1987). 

Eleventh Defense 

The doctrine of official immunity applies to public officers acting within 

the scope of their authority and since Defendant Lombardi is an employee of 

the State of Missouri Defendant MDOC, through its agents, officers or 

employees, are being sued in the performance of their official duty as an 

agent, officer or employee of the State of Missouri while they were performing 

functions which required a broad degree of discretion, Defendants are 

protected under the theory of official immunity. 
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Twelfth Defense 

Defendant Lombardi, as a public official acting pursuant to a duty owed 

to the general public as a whole, is entitled to protection under the public 

duty rule for all state claims made against him. 

Thirteenth Defense 

Defendant MDOC, through its employees as public officials acting 

pursuant to a duty owed to the general public as a whole, is entitled to 

protection under the public duty rule for all state claims made against it. 

Fourteenth Defense 

 Plaintiffs’ claims are not appropriate for class action because Plaintiffs’ 

claims lack the typicality, commonality, and adequacy of representation 

necessary to proceed as a class. Specifically, each correctional institution has 

its own policies and procedures regarding the post assignments and security 

procedures at the institution. Furthermore, different correctional officers 

have different job duties and responsibilities for activities related to their 

shifts such that there is not typicality and commonality of claims sufficient to 

maintain a class action.  See Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for 

Class Certification filed on December 9, 2014. 

Fourteenth Defense 

 The alleged violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act is excused under 

section 10 of the Portal-to-Portal Act, (29 U.S.C. Section 251 et seq.), in that 
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the challenged actions were taken in good faith, in conformity with and in 

reliance on written administrative regulation, order, ruling, approval, 

interpretation, administrative practice and/or enforcement policy of the U.S. 

Department of Labor. 

Fifteenth Defense 

Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for breach of contract, because Plaintiffs 

and the class members are at-will employees of the MDOC.  The manuals, 

handbooks, laws and regulations do not form employment contracts between 

MDOC and Plaintiffs or other potential class members.  There is no contract 

between Plaintiffs and the class members and MDOC identified in Plaintiffs’ 

First Amended Complaint upon which Plaintiffs and the class members can 

sue.  As there is no contract upon which they can sue, Plaintiffs fail to state a 

breach of contract claim. 

Sixteenth Defense 

Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for quantum meruit and/or unjust 

enrichment because they are the same claims.  The two are not separate 

claims with different elements. Plaintiff cannot separately recover under both 

claims, because they are the same claim. 

Sixteenth Defense 

Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for unjust enrichment, because there is a 

contract governing the employment relationship between Plaintiffs and 
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MDOC – the Collective Bargaining Agreement (“CBA”). However, Plaintiffs 

fail to state a claim under the CBA. See Defendants’ Motion for Partial 

Judgment on the Pleadings filed on 10/15/14 and Defendants’ Reply in 

Support of Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings filed on 12/16/2014.  

Plaintiffs’ recourse is to have their union (the Missouri Corrections Officers 

Association) sue under the CBA.  They cannot bring an unjust enrichment 

action where a contract – the CBA – governs their employment relationship.   

Seventeenth Defense 

Defendants reserve the right to raise such additional defenses as may 

become available or appear through investigation or during the course of 

discovery and to adopt and assert any defenses raised or asserted by any 

other Defendants, if any, to this action. 

WHEREFORE, having fully answered, Defendants Missouri 

Department of Corrections and George Lombardi pray for judgment in their 

favor and against Plaintiffs.  Defendants additionally pray that this Court 

award costs incurred herein against Plaintiffs and for any further relief this 

Court deems necessary and appropriate. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

CHRIS KOSTER 

Attorney General 

 

/s/ Amy Haywood   

AMY HAYWOOD 

Assistant Attorney General 

Mo. Bar. No. 66555 

P.O. Box 861 

St. Louis, MO 63188 

Phone (314) 340-4902 

E-mail: amy.haywood@ago.mo.gov   

 

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANTS 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was filed 

on August 17, 2015 via the Court’s ECF system, which gives notice to all 

parties of record. 

 

       

      /s/ Amy Haywood    

      Assistant Attorney General 
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